

Policy brief

Building caring societies: how states can shift the gendered norms of care

Aatif Somji October 2023

Key messages

Care work – paid and unpaid – remains deeply gendered, with negative financial impacts for women. Governments can take concerted action to shift wider social norms through: individual care policies, holistic care policy packages, and working with global alliances.

Narratives around care work must shift away from the idea of a private 'burden' to a shared responsibility. Care is a social good that is critical to well-being, providing the foundations upon which economies function, and so responsibility should be shared between the state, community, family and individuals.

Policymakers are encouraged to take concrete actions to shift discriminatory gender norms relating to care by building caring societies through public care systems. This will distribute caring responsibilities more equally among all genders and ensure everyone has the opportunity to fulfil their economic potential.

Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank colleagues in the Gender Equality and Social Inclusion team, particularly Caroline Harper, Rachel Marcus, Emily Subden and Emilie Tant for their generous contributions and feedback – all of whom supported this policy brief from inception to publication.

The author is also grateful to Layla Mohseni (UN Women) who kindly agreed to review an earlier draft of this brief and offered valuable comments and contributions, Terese Jonsson for excellent copyediting, and Garth Stewart for typesetting.

About the author

Aatif Somji is a Senior Research Officer in the Gender Equality and Social Inclusion programme at ODI.

Readers are encouraged to reproduce material for their own publications, as long as they are not being sold commercially. ODI requests due acknowledgement and a copy of the publication. For online use, we ask readers to link to the original resource on the ODI website. The views presented in this paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of ODI or our partners.

This work is licensed under CC BY-NC-ND 4.o.

How to cite: Somji, A. (2023) 'Building caring societies: how states can shift the gendered norms of care.' ODI Policy brief. London: ODI (https://odi.org/en/publications/building-caring-societies-shift-gendered-norms).

Contents

```
Acknowledgements / II

Introduction / 1

Individual care policy recommendations / 3

Fund quality, affordable care services / 3

Establish paid parental leave for all parents / 4

A continuum of care leave policies must exist across the life course / 5

Holistic care policy package recommendations / 6

Implement a comprehensive set of laws and services addressing paid and unpaid care / 6

Invest in a national care system / 8

Global alliance recommendations / 10

Join the Global Alliance for Care / 10

Actively participate in regional and international dialogues on care / 10

Conclusion / 12

Endnotes / 13
```

Introduction

The inaugural International Day of Care and Support is a welcome recognition from the international community of the invaluable contribution of care work to our societies and economies. It builds upon the tireless efforts of civil society and trade unions to give visibility to the importance of care and of public investment in a resilient and inclusive care economy: recognising, reducing and redistributing unpaid care work, and rewarding and supporting the representation of paid care and domestic workers.

The distribution of care work – paid and unpaid – remains deeply gendered. Globally, women and girls carry out on average more than three times as much **unpaid care work** as men and boys, which equates to roughly 12.5 billion hours of unpaid care work performed by women and girls every single day. Even before joining the world of work, care responsibilities can limit girls' opportunities for education. This time constraint is why unpaid care work constitutes the main barrier to women's participation in the labour force.¹ Meanwhile, many women who join the labour force face a 'double shift': when combining paid and unpaid work, women work, on average, longer hours than men across all regions of the world.² Women's disproportionate unpaid care responsibilities perpetuate gender inequalities in labour markets, limiting their economic rights and freedoms.

Just as women shoulder greater responsibility for unpaid care work, so the majority of **paid care work** is done by women. Approximately two-thirds of the global care workforce – which includes those in education and health sectors as well as domestic workers – are women. Many of these jobs are typically characterised by low status, low pay, poor working conditions and – particularly in the case of domestic work – high rates of informality and risks of abuse, exploitation and harassment.³ Migrant and ethnic minority women are often overwhelmingly over-represented in the lowest paid and most undervalued care jobs.⁴

Underlying these patterns of labour distribution are norms: the implicit, informal rules that most people accept and follow.⁵ In much of the world, **gender norms** assign women the role of primary caregiver while men's role is typically that of breadwinner, or primary income earner. Paid care work is then often seen as a 'natural' extension of women's unpaid care responsibilities.⁶ These norms also underlie the exclusion of unpaid care work from market-based definitions of economic output.⁷ Overall, gender norms reinforce the gendered distribution of care work and its devaluation across societies and economies.

Governments serious about achieving gender equality in labour markets and inclusive economic growth must meaningfully address gender norms through public policy. The narrative around care work needs to be shifted away from the idea of a private 'burden' borne largely by individual women at home. Instead, care should be reframed as a **social good**: critical to our well-being, essential for the provisioning of societies and providing the foundations upon which our economies function. Equally, care should be understood as a **shared responsibility**: between states and families, individuals and communities, women, men and people of all genders.

Policymakers can foster more gender-equal norms relating to care by taking the following actions (see Figure 1), each of which is outlined in more detail in this policy brief:

Individual care policies

- Fund quality, affordable care services
- Establish paid parental leave for all parents

Holistic care policy packages

- Implement a comprehensive set of laws and services addressing paid and unpaid care
- Invest in a national care system

Global alliances

- Join the Global Alliance for Care
- Actively participate in regional and international dialogues on care

Figure 1 Policy options to foster more gender-equal norms relating to care



i Gender norms relating to care, as well as care policies and services, apply across a continuum of care: spanning the life course from birth and infancy through to old age and death. This brief explores childcare in relatively greater detail, while still acknowledging the multitude of care needs across societies.

Individual care policy recommendations

Fund quality, affordable care services

A lack of quality, affordable care prevents women from entering or re-entering the workforce, or confines them to more flexible, part-time and often lower paid work. Governments that fund care services allow all caregivers the opportunity to participate meaningfully in the paid economy: benefiting national finances, and – importantly – demonstrating shared responsibility of the state for nurturing healthy economies and societies.

A core example is childcare. Across the world, it is estimated that approximately 40% of all children below primary-school age – or close to 350 million children – need but do not have access to childcare services. This disproportionately affects families in low- and lower-middle income countries, where eight out of ten of these children live. Expanding the childcare workforce to meet current needs could create up to 43 million jobs globally. Funding quality childcare services is therefore an investment in children, parents, society and economy.

Access to subsidised childcare tends to increase employment rates for women across low-, middle- and high-income countries. For example, a review of 22 studies found that greater access to subsidised childcare increased women's employment rates in all of these cases bar one. And analysis across 18 European countries found that expanding public childcare spending contributes to more gender-equitable attitudes towards maternal employment. Importantly, this trend is most pronounced where access to childcare is more equal for parents across different socioeconomic backgrounds, underlining the importance that such policies are designed with fairness and inclusion in mind.

There are many different implementation models for childcare that governments can support:

- direct public provision
- market provision
- public-private partnerships
- cooperatives
- other home- and community-based services.

Certain design features can encourage greater take-up of childcare services. Principal among these are the affordability, quality and safety of childcare centres; operating hours that align to parents' working hours; and proximity of these services to the home or workplace.¹²

Considering the **continuum of care services across the life course**, other important care provisions include care for older persons, people with disabilities and those with chronic illness.

While the exact modalities of care services will vary according to different contexts, it is crucial that the **state maintains primary responsibility for care** through defining quality standards; funding care; assuring/regulating the quality of care services; and directly providing these services where feasible. The public provision of care services tends to improve working conditions and pay of care workers, across all country income levels, while unregulated private provision is associated with worsening job quality and pay.¹³

In some instances, particularly strong gender norms against women working or leaving dependents in the care of others may limit the transformative potential of care services. In these cases, some direct norm change interventions – such as media campaigns – may be required in tandem with quality and affordable care services to encourage greater take-up and accelerate shifts in gender norms.¹⁴

Overall, access to care provision improves women's employment outcomes, which can directly influence the acceptability of women engaging in paid work: helping to overcome traditional gender norms that dictate that women should stay at home and look after those who require care. By funding affordable, quality care services, governments share this responsibility for nurturing healthy economies and societies.

Establish paid parental leave for all parents

The amount of time women dedicate to unpaid care work increases significantly with the presence of young children in the household, much more so than for men. This suggests that parenthood is a critical juncture where traditional gender norms around care can either be reinforced or transformed. Parenthood is not only about women becoming mothers; it is about people becoming parents. Therefore, it is essential that governments wanting to foster more gender-equal relations implement paid parental leave for all parents, including mothers, fathers, same-sex couples, those who identify as non-binary and adoptive parents.

While the majority of countries worldwide provide some form of paid maternity leave, 72 out of 190 economies globally still do not mandate at least 14 weeks of paid maternity leave in line with the ILO Maternity Protection Convention. Beyond the well-documented benefits on maternal and child health and development, state-mandated maternity leave can be important for shifting gender norms. Increases in paid maternity leave are associated with more equitable attitudes towards working women, as well as women's increased involvement in household decision-making. But without similar leave policies for all parents, maternity leave risks reinforcing traditional gender norms around care.

Parental leave reforms, predominantly in European countries, provide a good indication of the gender-transformative potential of such policies. Many of these feature an allocation of leave that is exclusively reserved for each parent, often implemented on a 'use it or lose it' basis where families must ensure this reservation of leave is taken by each parent or give it up. This policy

design provides a strong incentive, or 'nudge', for all parents to increase their involvement in caregiving. Another important design feature is ensuring that this leave is adequately remunerated to encourage take-up.

These reforms are effective in shifting men's caregiving behaviour. Looking specifically at heterosexual couples, evidence from Norway,¹⁹ Spain,²⁰ Germany²¹ and Canada²² suggests that reforms encouraging fathers to take parental leave have had long-term effects on the amount of childcare they do later on in life as their children get older. This is likely to have generational effects: boys who see their fathers doing care work are more likely to be involved in care work if they become parents.²³

Parental leave reforms also positively impact women's labour market outcomes. Evidence from Denmark,²⁴ Sweden²⁵ and Spain²⁶ suggests mothers' earnings increase as a result of parental reservations, while similar studies from Germany²⁷ and Canada²⁸ suggest that eligible mothers significantly increase the number of hours they spend in paid employment.

Crucially, parental leave reforms can help shift gender norms. A study across nine European countries found that policies encouraging fathers to take leave increased the likelihood of women and men holding gender-equitable attitudes towards women working.²⁹ In Spain, paternity leave reforms led to more progressive gender norms among adolescents: those born after the reforms were more likely to find it appropriate for women with young children to work, and for fathers to work less than full-time.³⁰ And Australian fathers' involvement in care work during childhood and adolescence played an important role in shaping children's gender-equitable attitudes towards paid and unpaid work, being as relevant in shaping these attitudes as mother's labour force participation.³¹

A continuum of care leave policies must exist across the life course

Beyond parental leave, other forms of paid care leave policies that are important to consider include long-term leave to care for older persons and people with disabilities and chronic illness, as well as emergency, short-term leave for urgent care needs.³²

Overall, while care leave policies primarily benefit formal sector workers, the evidence suggests that reforms can help to shift wider attitudes, behaviours and norms relating to women's labour force participation and men's involvement in caregiving.

Holistic care policy package recommendations

Implement a comprehensive set of laws and services addressing paid and unpaid care

While individual policies focused on paid or unpaid care work are important, policymakers should consider a more holistic approach to shifting norms around care work: implementing a comprehensive set of policies that target multiple aspects of paid and unpaid care work together.

Recent policy developments across different regions, discussed here, indicate a growing momentum for ambitious care policies that address a combination of paid and unpaid care work.

South Africa

A number of care-focused policies have been implemented as part of South Africa's social protection programme, one of the largest on the African continent. For example, the Child Support Grant is a monthly cash transfer paid to the primary caregiver of children from low-income households, which provides financial assistance to help take care of children. Empirical evaluations suggest positive effects of the grant on reducing poverty, improving food security, and boosting school attendance and performance.³³ The Care Dependency Grant provides additional financial support for children with severe disabilities and in need of special care; the Disability Grant assists adults whose livelihood is severely limited due to ill health or disability; while the Old Persons Grant provides a substantial cash transfer to the over 60s that can be used to contribute to health and care costs.³⁴

In addition, South Africa's Expanded Public Works Programme is one of the few public works schemes that invests in **social infrastructure**, including childcare and community-based care services (including for HIV-affected households). The programme creates employment in the care economy while helping to reduce unpaid care work largely done by women.³⁵ While significant gender gaps in unpaid care work remain,³⁶ a recent policy development shows promise: as part of its National Early Childhood Development Policy, South Africa is committing to providing universal early childhood care and education for children starting at age three. Implementation is expected in 2024.³⁷

Senegal

Since 2022, 13 municipalities in northern Senegal have begun integrating residents' holistic care needs into Local Development Plans. This entails collecting data on community care needs, such as childcare solutions and time-saving infrastructure and technology; mapping the community

care ecosystem; establishing how much time is spent on care in the community and by whom; and proposing action plans towards which resources can be allocated, investing in the infrastructure and services required to address local care needs. The participatory processes involved in the discussion of Local Development Plans ensure the increased visibility of care – and of those who do this work – while facilitated discussions on social norms and behaviour change encourage the redistribution of care.³⁸

A national policy dialogue on local solutions to care was held in November 2022 – involving mayors, local officials, regional institutions and representatives from the Ministry of Family, Social Protection and Children – where opportunities were explored to scale up this approach to the national level. The Government of Senegal, with support from UN Women, is currently in the process of designing and implementing a national roadmap for reform related to care.³⁹

Bangladesh

The Ministry of Women and Children's Affairs is currently implementing a system of childcare centres, with the ambition to set up 8,000 centres in 16 districts across Bangladesh by 2025. These could serve up to 200,000 children and generate 40,000 skilled jobs. The plan follows the 2021 Child Daycare Centre Act, aimed at supporting professional and working women in Bangladesh through the provision of childcare services. Childcare centres are required by law to be registered and must maintain minimum quality and safety standards to keep their registered status, monitored through periodic inspection from government authorities. Under the new plan, specific attention is also given to care workers: requiring skills training and certification for caregivers, supervisors and managers; having a predetermined set of pay scales according to responsibilities; and including these workers as part of the government payroll system.⁴⁰

India

The National Creche Scheme for Working Mothers was launched in 2017, implemented by the Ministry of Women and Child Development. The core focus of the scheme is on increasing employment opportunities for women by providing support to mothers and their young children. The plan includes stipulations on minimum ratios of workers to children and operating hours that align with mothers' work schedules; guidelines on affordable user charges; training for childcare workers; cost norms for childcare workers' remuneration; and guidance on food and nutrition, growth monitoring, health check-ups and immunisation. Following an independent evaluation of the scheme in 2020, the Ministry is introducing a revision of cost norms: increasing the recommended remuneration of childcare workers up from 3,000 to 5,000 rupees per month – demonstrating the increased value of these care workers to the economy and society.

Australia

In May 2023, the Australian Government released a draft National Care and Support Economy Strategy. Its focus on paid care and support services include childcare, elder care, veteran's care and care for people with disabilities. Funding high-quality care provision is a strategic decision by the Australian Government to relieve women from unpaid care work, drive economic prosperity through decent jobs for care workers and provide a better quality of life for Australians. Key tenets of the strategy include ensuring that paid workers have the right skills and training to deliver quality care; that their pay and working conditions reflect the value of this quality care and support work; and that government investment in the paid care economy is effective and sustainable – as part of a wider commitment to funding social infrastructure that contributes to quality of life and well-being.⁴³

Invest in a national care system

The most ambitious and comprehensive policy reforms relating to care have been the creation of national care systems, spearheaded by governments in several South and Central American countries. These aim to implement a new social organisation of care, encouraging gender norm change so that caregiving responsibilities are valued and shared more equitably between the state and people of all genders in society.⁴⁴

National care systems should:

- establish an integrated and **rights-based approach** to care policies
- promote values of universality and co-responsibility
- provide care, assistance and support for people who require it
- assure that those providing care have quality jobs with decent working conditions
- **professionalise care**, making available opportunities for training and certification.

Uruguay set up its National Integrated Care System, or *Sistema Nacional Integrado de Cuidados* (SNIC), in 2015, which established care as a fourth pillar of social protection alongside education, health and social security.⁴⁵ Grounded in a human rights-based approach, the system is enshrined in a law called the **'legal right to care and be cared for'**.⁴⁶ A core principle of the SNIC is the co-responsibility of the state, community, market and families – including men and women – to provide care.

The National Care Plan 2016–2020 that was approved to implement and coordinate care policies had three core dimensions:⁴⁷

- the provision of care for children aged three and under
- the provision of care for elderly persons and those with disabilities
- the professionalisation of the paid care workforce through training and certification, to ensure high quality care provision.

The annual spending of services provided under the SNIC was US\$206 million in 2019, which represented 0.36% of GDP.⁴⁸ Official government statistics suggest that in the five-year period from 2015 to 2020, nearly 17,000 additional children under three attended public childcare; over 6,000 dependent adults received personal assistance from a professional carer; and close to 6,000 people completed training courses on early childhood care and education or caring for dependents.⁴⁹

Uruguay's National Care Plan 2021–2025 emphasises reducing the significant gaps in access to care among the population, which tend to impact those facing intersecting vulnerabilities the most. The overall aim is to achieve universal care coverage for all people who need it, throughout the life cycle.⁵⁰

The SNIC forms part of a broader commitment to care and gender equality in Uruguay. Complementary policies include extended maternity and paternity leave for new parents,⁵¹ as well as care credits, which provide mothers with an additional year of pension contributions for each child they have. This compensates women for time spent outside of the labour force when caring for dependent children – recognising the value of care and its contribution to society.⁵² Finally, the National Statistics Office has conducted nationwide time-use surveys to gather the data to quantify gender gaps in paid and unpaid work.⁵³ This underlines the critical importance of gender data in designing and implementing inclusive care policies and systems.⁵⁴

Since the introduction of the national care system in Uruguay, similar care policies and systems have been developed in Argentina,⁵⁵ Costa Rica,⁵⁶ Panamá⁵⁷ and the district of Bogotá, Colombia,⁵⁸ among other South and Central American countries. And in 2017, Cabo Verde established its National Care Plan – the first example of a comprehensive, public care system in sub-Saharan Africa.⁵⁹

Global alliance recommendations

Policymakers should not underestimate the **importance of political will** and its potential to shift the wider discourse on care. For this reason, governments that wish to take a stance on shifting the narrative on care should consider joining forces – along with stakeholders from different sectors – to share ideas, learnings and best practices on the care economy and contribute to the global shifting of gender norms related to care.

Join the Global Alliance for Care

The Global Alliance for Care is a global multi-stakeholder network composed of national and local governments, international and philanthropic organisations, civil society and private sector actors advocating for a feminist care agenda. Founded in 2021 by UN Women and the National Institute of Women (INMUJERES) Mexico, it has a membership of over 150 organisations.⁶⁰

The Alliance promotes co-responsibility for care, equitable compensation and representation for caregivers, and protection of care recipients' rights; facilitates collective learning about care policies, actions and best practices; provides a space where diverse global actors working to advance the care agenda can connect with one other; and facilitates greater coordination for collective action.⁶¹

Governments committed to establishing inclusive care policies and systems are invited to join the Global Alliance for Care to work together in solidarity with actors striving for similar progressive shifts in gender norms around paid and unpaid care work.

Actively participate in regional and international dialogues on care

Governments should join regional and global dialogues where gender equality and care are central to the agenda: making policy commitments and holding themselves accountable for their implementation.

As the following examples show, the number of regional and global dialogues where gender equality and care are central to the agenda is increasing.

The XV Regional Conference on Women in Latin America and the Caribbean

Organised by the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) and UN Women, this conference took place in November 2022 and resulted in the Buenos Aires Commitment. This agreement among regional states commits to prioritising inclusive care policies and systems that overcome harmful sexist roles, stereotypes and norms, based on the principles of equality, universality, and social and gender co-responsibility.⁶²

The Bali Care Economy Dialogue

This event, organised by the Asia Foundation and also held in November 2022, brought together actors from across Asia and the Pacific to discuss how to build resilient care ecosystems in the region.⁶³

The West African Symposium on Women's Economic Empowerment

This symposium took place for the first time in October 2022, involving key government stakeholders from across the region to discuss care strategies and policy solutions.⁶⁴

G20's Working Group on the Empowerment of Women

The 2023 G20 summit in New Delhi resulted in the historic creation of this working group. The group's mandate will include promoting investment in affordable care infrastructure to address the unequal distribution of paid and unpaid care work, and shifting norms, attitudes and behaviours that perpetuate gender inequality. This builds upon the progress from the W20 (Women 20) summit that preceded it, where these issues – along with many others relating to gender equality – were raised.

Policymakers participating in these forums improve coordination, collaboration and cooperation on the care economy, keep care high on the agenda in international and regional spaces, and work towards a shift in gender norms around paid and unpaid care work.

Conclusion

Care work – whether paid or unpaid – is a social good that nurtures our societies and upholds our economies. Yet care work remains a deeply gendered phenomenon, contributing to gender inequalities in labour market outcomes for women. Governments serious about achieving gender equality and inclusive economic growth must meaningfully address gender norms through public policy to build caring societies.

Policymakers are encouraged to take these concrete steps, grounded in evidence, to address discriminatory gender norms relating to care. This will enable states to work towards a world where men, women and people of all genders are supported by comprehensive, public care systems, have the freedom to share caring responsibilities more equitably and have the opportunity to fulfil their economic potential.

Endnotes

- **1 ILO International Labour Organization** (2018) *Care work and care jobs for the future of decent work.* Geneva: ILO (www.ilo.org/global/publications/books/WCMS_633135/lang--en/index.htm).
- **Charmes, J.** (2019) The unpaid care work and the labour market. An analysis of time use data based on the latest world compilation of time-use surveys. Geneva: ILO (www.ilo.org/gender/Informationresources/Publications/WCMS_732791/lang--en/index.htm).
- 3 ILO (2018).
- **4 Duffy, M. and Armenia, A.** (2021) Paid care work around the globe: a comparative analysis of 47 countries and territories. New York: UN Women (www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2021/04/discussion-paper-paid-care-work-around-the-globe).
- **Harper, C., Marcus, R., George, R., et al.** (2020) *Gender, power and progress: how norms change.* London: ALIGN/ODI (www.alignplatform.org/gender-power-progress).
- 6 Carranza, E., Das, S. and Kotikula, A. (2023) Gender-based employment segregation: understanding causes and policy interventions. Washington DC: World Bank (https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/483621554129720460/pdf/Gender-Based-Employment-Segregation-Understanding-Causes-and-Policy-Interventions.pdf).
- **7 UN Women** (2022) *Increase women's* economic empowerment by transforming the care economy. New York: UN Women (https://forum.generationequality.org/sites/default/files/2022-12/Blueprint%20on%20Care%20Economy_EJR%20Action%20Coalition_2022.pdf).
- 8 Devercelli, A. and Beaton-Day, F. (2020) Better jobs and brighter futures: investing in childcare to build human capital. Washington DC: World Bank (https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/35062).
- 9 For low- and middle-income countries, see Halim, D., Perova, E. and Reynolds, S. (2021) Childcare and mothers' labor market outcomes in lower- and middle-income countries.

 World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 9828 (https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/450971635788989068/pdf/Childcare-and-Mothers-Labor-Market-Outcomes-in-Lower-and-Middle-Income-Countries.pdf). For high-income countries, see Olivetti, C. and and Petrongolo, B. (2017) 'The economic consequences of family policies: lessons from a century of legislation in high-income countries' Journal of Economic Perspectives 31(1), 205–230 (www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/jep.31.1.205).
- 10 Halim et al. (2021).
- **Neimanns, E.** (2021) 'Unequal benefits diverging attitudes? Analysing the effects of an unequal expansion of childcare provision on attitudes towards maternal employment across 18 European countries' *Journal of Public Policy* 41(2), 251–276 (https://doi.org/10.1017/S0143814X19000333).
- **12 IFC International Finance Corporation** (2017) *Tackling childcare: the business case for employer-supported childcare*. Washington DC: IFC (www.ifc.org/en/insights-reports/2017/tackling-childcare-report).
- 13 ILO (2018).
- 14 See, for example, Caria, S., Crepon, B., Elbehairy, H., et al. (2022) Child care subsidies, employment services and women's labor market outcomes in Egypt: first midline results. Washington DC: World Bank (https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/37825).
- 15 Charmes (2019).

- **16 World Bank** (2023) *Women, business and the law.* Washington DC: World Bank (https://wbl.worldbank.org/en/reports).
- **17 ILO** (2000) ILO Convention 183 Maternity Protection Convention (<u>www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:12100:0::NO::P12100_ILO_CODE:C183</u>).
- **18 Chai, Y., Ríos-Salas, V., Stek, P., et al.** (2022) 'Does enhancing paid maternity leave policy help promote gender equality? Evidence from 31 low- and middle-income countries' *Gender Issues*, 39, 335–367 (https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12147-021-09293-4).
- **19 Dahl, G.B., Løken, K.V. and Mogstad, M.** (2014) 'Peer effects in program participation' *American Economic Review*, 104(7), 2049–2074 (www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/aer.104.7.2049).
- **20 Farré, L. and González, L.** (2019) 'Does paternity leave reduce fertility? *Journal of Public Economics* 172(C), 52–66 (www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0047272718302299).
- **Tamm, M.** (2019) 'Fathers' parental leave-taking, childcare involvement and labor market participation' *Labour Economics* 59, 184–197 (www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0927537119300405).
- **Patnaik, A.** (2019) 'Reserving time for daddy: the consequences of fathers' quotas' *Journal of Labor Economics* 37(4), 1009–1059 (www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/abs/10.1086/703115).
- **23 Equimundo** (2022) The international men and gender equality survey: a status report on men, women, and gender equality in 15 headlines. Washington DC: Equimundo (www.equimundo.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/IMAGES-Global-Headlines.pdf).
- **24 Johansson, E-A.** (2010) *The effect of own and spousal parental leave on earnings*. Institute for Labour Market Policy Evaluation Working Paper No. 2010:4 (www.ifau.se/globalassets/pdf/se/2010/wp10-4-The-effect-of-own-and-spousal-parental-leave-on-earnings.pdf).
- **25 Andersen, S.H.** (2018) 'Paternity leave and the motherhood penalty: new causal evidence' *Journal of Marriage and Family* 80, 1125–1143 (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/jomf.12507).
- 26 Farré and González (2019).
- 27 Tamm (2019).
- 28 Patnaik (2019).
- **29 Omidakhsh, N., Sprague, A. and Heymann, J.** (2020) 'Dismantling restrictive gender norms: can better designed paternal leave policies help?' *Analyses of Social Issues and Public Policy* 20(1), 382–396 (https://spssi.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/asap.12205).
- **30 Farré, L., Felfe, C., Gonzalez, L., et al.** (2023) Changing gender norms across generations: evidence from a paternity leave reform. IZA Discussion Paper No. 16341 (www.iza.org/publications/dp/16341).
- **Cano, T. and Hofmeister, H.** (2023) 'The intergenerational transmission of gender: paternal influences on children's gender attitudes' *Journal of Marriage and Family* 85(1), 193–214 (https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12863).
- **32 ILO** (2022) Care at work: investing in care leave and services for a more gender equal world of work. Geneva: ILO (www.ilo.org/global/topics/care-economy/WCMS_838653/lang--en/index.htm).
- 33 Patel, L. (2017) 'The child support grant in South Africa: gender, care and social investment' in J. Midgley, E. Dahl and A.C. Wright (eds) *Social investment and social welfare: international and critical perspectives*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing, pp. 105–122 (https://doi.org/10.4337/978 1785367830.00012).
- **34 ILO** (n.d.) 'Social protection floor in South Africa'. Webpage. ILO (www.social-protection.org/gimi/gess/ShowWiki.action?wiki.wikiId=852).
- 35 ILO (2018).

- **36 Valiani, S.** (2022) *The Africa Care Economy Index*. Nairobi: FEMNET (www.femnet.org/2022/08/the-africa-care-economy-index/).
- **37 ITUC International Trade Union Confederation** (2022) *Putting the care economy in place: trade unions in action around the world.* Brussels: ITUC (www.ituc-csi.org/ituc-report-on-care-2022-en).
- **38 UN Women** (2023a) 'Integrating unpaid care needs in local development plans in Senegal'. UN Women Briefing Note (https://africa.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2023/04/integrating-unpaid-care-needs-in-local-development-plans-in-senegal).
- **39 UN Women** (2023b) 'A bottom-up approach to care policy and programming: the case of the 3R programme addressing unpaid care needs of rural women in Senegal'. UN Women Case Study (<a href="https://africa.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2023/04/a-bottom-up-approach-to-care-policy-and-programming-the-case-of-the-3r-programme-addressing-unpaid-care-needs-of-rural-women-in-senegal).
- 40 Rahman, T., Arnold Urzua, T.A., Shams, F., et al. (2022) Raising the quality of child caregiving in Bangladesh. Washington DC: World Bank (https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/180441644478960474/raising-the-quality-of-child-caregiving-in-bangladesh).
- **41 Ministry of Women and Child Development, Government of India** (2017) *National Creche Scheme for the Children of Working Mothers* (https://wcd.nic.in/sites/default/files/National%20 Creche%20Scheme%20For%20The%20Children%20of%20Working%20Mothers_o.pdf).
- **42 Ministry of Women and Child Development, Government of India** (2021) 'National Crèche Scheme'. Press release, 22 December (https://pib.gov.in/PressReleaselframePage. aspx?PRID=1784149).
- **43 Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet, Government of Australia** (2023) *Draft National Strategy for the Care and Support Economy* (www.pmc.gov.au/resources/draft-national-strategy-care-and-support-economy).
- 44 UN Women and ECLAC Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (2021)

 Towards the construction of comprehensive care systems in Latin America and the Caribbean:
 elements for their implementation. Santiago: UN Women and ECLAC (https://oig.cepal.org/en/documents/towards-construction-comprehensive-care-systems-latin-america-and-caribbean-elements-their).
- **45 Government of Uruguay** (2012) *Hacia un modelo solidario de cuidados* (www.gub.uy/sistema-cuidados/sites/sistema-cuidados/files/documentos/publicaciones/Hacia%20un%20modelo%20 solidario%20de%20cuidados%202012.pdf).
- **46 OECD Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development** (2019) *Enabling women's economic empowerment: new approaches to unpaid care work in developing countries.* Paris: OECD Publishing (https://doi.org/10.1787/ec9od1b1-en).
- 47 Ibid.
- **48 UN Women** (2023c) 'Recognizing, reducing and redistributing unpaid care work: selected case studies to support reform in West and Central Africa'. UN Women Case Study (https://africa.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2023/08/toolkit-recognizing-reducing-and-redistributing-unpaid-care-work-selected-case-studies-to-support-reform-in-west-and-central-africa).
- **49 Government of Uruguay** (2020) *Cuidados rinde cuentas Marzo 2020* (www.gub.uy/sistemacuidados/datos-y-estadisticas/estadisticas/cuidados-rinde-cuentas-marzo-2020).

- **50 Government of Uruguay** (2021) *Plan Nacional de Cuidados 2021-2025* (www.gub.uy/ministeriodesarrollo-social/comunicacion/publicaciones/plan-nacional-cuidados-2021-2025).
- **51 UN Women** (2019) The National Integrated Care System In Uruguay: an opportunity for the economic empowerment of women. Montevideo: UN Women (https://lac.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/Field%20Office%20Americas/Documentos/Publicaciones/2019/10/SNIC%20web%20 INGLES.pdf).
- **52 ILO** (2018).
- **53 Buvinic, M. and Rabinovitch Blecker, N.** (2017) 'Uruguay's national care policy: a virtuous cycle in data, advocacy and policy'. OECD Case Study (https://data2x.org/resource-center/uruguays-national-care-policy-a-virtuous-cycle-in-data-advocacy-and-policy/).
- **54** See, for example, **Data2x and FemDev** (2023) 'A feminist care economy needs a gender data agenda'. Data2x and FemDev Policy Brief (https://data2x.org/resource-center/care-policy-needs-gender-data/).
- 55 Ministerio de las Mujeres, Géneros y Diversidad, Government of Argentina (n.d.) 'Mesa Interministerial de Políticas de Cuidado'. Webpage. Government of Argentina (www.argentina.gob. ar/generos/cuidados/mesa-interministerial-de-politicas-de-cuidado).
- **56 Instituto Mixto de Ayuda Social, Costa Rica** (2021) *Política Nacional de Cuidados 2021–2031* (www.imas.go.cr/sites/default/files/custom/Politica%20Nacional%20de%20Cuidados%202021-2031_0.pdf).
- **57 Ministerio de Desarrollo Social, Republica de Panamá** (n.d.) 'Plan De Acción'. Webpage. Iniciativa de Paridad de Género Panamá (https://ipgpanama.mides.gob.pa/plan_accion/).
- **58 District of Bogota** (2021) 'Alcaldesa presentó ante comunidad internacional el Sistema Distrital de Cuidado'. 29 September (https://bogota.gov.co/mi-ciudad/gobierno/alcaldesa-presento-sistema-distrital-de-cuidado-en-u-de-columbia).
- 59 UN Women (2023c).
- **60 UN Women** (2023d) 'Global Alliance for Care leads changes in the care economy'. News story, 19 September (www.unwomen.org/en/news-stories/feature-story/2023/09/global-alliance-for-care-leads-changes-in-the-care-economy).
- **61 Global Alliance for Care** (n.d.) Website (https://alianzadecuidados.forogeneracionigualdad.mx/ acerca/?lang=en).
- **62 ECLAC** (2023) Buenos Aires Commitment (LC/CRM.15/6/Rev.1). Santiago: United Nations (https://conferenciamujer.cepal.org/15/en/documents/buenos-aires-commitment).
- **63 Bali Care Economy Dialogue** (2022) Website (https://sites.google.com/view/bali-care-economy-dialogue2022/home).
- **64 UN Women** (2022) 'Colloque international pour l'autonomisation économique des femmes en Afrique de l'Ouest'. News story, 26 October (https://africa.unwomen.org/fr/stories/ nouvelle/2022/10/colloque-international-pour-lautonomisation-economique-des-femmes-enafrique-de-louest).
- **65 G20** (2023) *G20 New Delhi Leaders' Declaration* (www.g20.org/content/dam/gtwenty/gtwenty_new/document/G20-New-Delhi-Leaders-Declaration.pdf
- **66 W20** (2023) *W20 communique 2023*. https://w20india.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/W20-Communique-2023.pdf).